### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC10-540
(L. C. Case No. 95-911-CFA)
Order of the Circuit Court of the Twentieth
-

310 North Jefferson St.
Monticello, FL 32344
Tel: 850.997.8469
Fx: 850.997.5852
bayalaw@aol.com
Court Appointed Registry
Counsel for Appellant,
Joshua Nelson

Fla. Bar No. 099568

Baya Harrison

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

#### **Nature of the Case:**

This is a direct appeal of a final order (R11/1111-31<sup>1</sup>) with attachments rendered on March 5, 2010, by the Hon. Lynn Gerald, Jr., Circuit Judge, Twentieth Judicial Circuit of Florida, that denied Nelson's June 15, 2009, Sworn Complete Second Amended Initial Motion for Post Conviction Relief" (R9/777-837.) filed per the provisions of Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.850 and 3.851(e)(1).

#### **Jurisdiction:**

The Supreme Court of Florida has jurisdiction over the parties and subject matter of this cause because this is a direct appeal of a final order that denied Nelson post conviction relief in a capital case. Art. V, Sec. 3(b)(1), Fla. Const. "We have jurisdiction over all death penalty appeals." *Parker v. State*, 873 So. 2d 270, 275, f. 1 (Fla. 2004). This includes jurisdiction of direct appeals from final orders denying post conviction relief in capital cases. *Parker v. State*, 542 So. 2d 356-57 (Fla. 1989).

## **Course of the Proceedings:**

On or about April 4, 1995, Nelson and co-defendant Keith M.

<sup>&</sup>quot;R11/1111-31" refers to volume 11 of the record on appeal in the post conviction proceedings followed by a slash and the appropriate page numbers.

Brennan, were indicted by a Lee County, Florida, grand jury and charged with (Count I) premeditated, first-degree murder, (Count II) first-degree felony murder and (Count III) armed robbery. (R8/777-79.) The victim was Thomas Owens. (R8/779.) Separate trials were ordered.

Nelson's jury trial commenced on September 16, 1996, in Ft. Myers.

He was found guilty on all three counts. (R8/779; R11/1112.) Counts I and

II were merged for sentencing purposes.

A penalty phase was held on November 7, 1996 per the provisions of Section 921.141, Florida Statutes (1995). The state argued that three statutory aggravators were extant in the case: (1) The murder was committed in the course of an armed robbery of the victim during which his vehicle was taken; (2) the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel (HAC); and (3) the murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of legal or moral justification (CCP). Nelson asserted that there was sufficient evidence of four statutory mitigators: (1) Nelson was acting under extreme emotional disturbance at the time of the homicide per Section 921.141(6)(b), Fla. Stat. (1995); (2) he was an accomplice playing only a minor role in the homicide per Section 921.141(6)(d); (3) he acted under the substantial domination of Brennan per Section 921.141(6)(e); and that he lacked the capacity to appreciate the

criminality of his conduct at that time, per Section 921.141(6)(f). *Nelson v*. State, supra, 748 So. 2d 237, 240 (1999). His counsel asserted the following in the way of non-statutory mitigation: (1) Nelson gave a voluntary confession, (2) Nelson was not the person who actually killed the victim, (3) death was caused by the codefendant Brennan, (4) Nelson suffered from a deprived childhood, (5) Nelson's childhood saddled him with emotional handicaps, (6) outside influences further caused Nelson emotional handicaps, (7) Nelson suffered great situational stresses leading up to the time of the homicide, (8) Nelson was suffering emotional turmoil before and at the time of the homicide, (9) Nelson's anger stemmed from circumstances beyond his control, (10) Nelson suffered physical, mental, and sexual family abuse, (11) Nelson has no prior criminal convictions for violent felonies, (12) the homicide was committed for emotional reasons, (13) there was a conditional guilty plea offer made by Nelson subject to a life sentence which was refused by the state, (14) Nelson has potential for rehabilitation in prison, and (15) the death penalty as applied to Nelson was disproportionate. (R9/831-32.) At the conclusion of the penalty phase (Nelson did not testify during that proceeding), the jury recommended imposition of the death penalty by a vote of 12-0.

On November 27, 1996, after a *Spencer*<sup>2</sup> hearing, Nelson was sentenced to death for the murder and to 189 months in prison regarding the robbery. (R8/779; R9/820-26; R11/1112.) In so doing, the trial court, Hon. William J. Nelson, Circuit Judge, deceased, found three statutory aggravators had been proven beyond a reasonable doubt by the state: (1) The murder was committed in the course of a robbery, Section 921.141(5)(d), Fla. Stat. (1995); (2) the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel (HAC), Section 921.141(5)(h); and (3) the murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of legal or moral justification (CCP), Section 921.141(5)(i). (R9/827-29.) Judge Nelson (no relation to the defendant), rejected the four statutory mitigators raised by the defense as referenced above. (R9/829-31.) However, the Court found that one other statutory mitigator, Nelson's age of eighteen years at the time of the crime as provided for by Section 921.141(6)(g), was established by a preponderance of the evidence, and it was given "great weight." (R9/831.) The fact that Nelson gave a voluntary confession was given substantial weight. (R9/832) The remaining non-statutory mitigators were given moderate to little if any weight. *Nelson v. State*, supra, 748 So. 2d 237, 240 (1999).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Spencer v. State, 615 So. 2d 668, 690, 691 (Fla. 1993).

A direct appeal of the judgments of conviction and sentences followed. Nelson claimed that the trial court erred by (1) failing to properly determine the admissibility of testimony of the state's DNA expert, (2) denying Nelson's right to confrontation by admitting hearsay testimony of Brennan's out-of court statements which implicated Nelson, (3) failing to properly weigh Nelson's alcohol and drug abuse history, (4) violating Nelson's Eighth Amendment rights by weighing the cold, premeditated and calculated (CCP) aggravator since there was in the record evidence of a pretense of justification and no careful planning, (5) violating Nelson's Eighth Amendment rights by weighing the heinous, atrocious or cruel (HAC) aggravator since the evidence did not support the finding that Nelson intended to cause the victim unnecessary and prolonged suffering, (6) violating Nelson's Eighth Amendment rights by giving a vague jury instruction on the HAC aggravator, and (7) failing to hold that the death penalty was not proportionate. Nelson v. State, 748 So. 2d at 240; R8/782-83. On May 27, 1999, this Court rejected those points on appeal and affirmed the judgments of conviction and sentences, including the death sentence. Nelson v. State, supra, 748 So. 2d 237 (Fla. 1999). Rehearing was denied on September 30, 1999. The mandate was issued on November 1, 1999. A timely petition for writ of certiorari was filed in the Supreme Court

of the United States, but was denied on January 18, 2000. *Nelson v. Florida*, 528 U.S. 1123 (2000).

On January 5, 2001, Nelson filed an initial sworn, shell "Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence With Special Leave to Amend" in the circuit court in Lee County. (R1/17-85.) He was represented by Capital Collateral Regional Counsel ("CCRC"; R1/93.) CCRC asserted some 34 claims, all of which were incomplete and many of which had no relevance whatsoever to the case at bar.

On October 29, 2004, CCRC moved to withdraw as Nelson's counsel citing a conflict of interest. (R6/580-82.) After an evidentiary hearing, the motion was granted. On October 24, 2007, Michael McDonnell, Esq., was appointed in its stead. (R7/638-45.)

On January 26, 2009, Nelson through Mr. McDonnell filed an "Amended Initial Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence with Special Request for Leave to Amend." (R7/691-719.) On March 4, 2009, Mr. McDonnell was allowed to withdraw and the undersigned was appointed in his place as registry counsel. (R8/730.)

On March 9, 2009, the undersigned, after submitting his notice of appearance (R8/732), filed a motion to amend Nelson's amended post conviction motion (R8/733-38) and followed with a memorandum (R8/763-

69). The motion to amend was granted.

On June 15, 2009, Nelson filed a sworn "Complete Second Amended Initial Motion for Post Conviction Relief including Integrated Memorandum of Law." (R9/777-837; R11/1112.) On July 14, 2009, the state filed an "Answer to Second Amended Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence." (R9/855-68.)

A telephonic *Huff* <sup>3</sup> hearing presided over by Judge Gerald was held on August 20, 2009. (R10/900-35.) An evidentiary hearing on certain of the claims set forth in the Second Amended Initial Motion for Post Conviction Relief was held on October 29, 2009. (R11/1112-13.) Nelson and defense counsel investigator Stephen Holland testified on behalf of Mr. Nelson. Harold Stevens, Esq., Nelson's lead trial counsel, testified for the state. (R10/1034-1118.) Both sides thereafter submitted written closing arguments and legal memoranda. (R10/948-72, 973-1005; R11/1113.)

### **Disposition in Lower Tribunal:**

On March 5, 2010, Judge Gerald rendered his final order denying post conviction relief (R11/1100-31) with attachments. On March 18, 2010, Nelson filed a notice of appeal of that final order to this Court. (R12/1348-49.)

14

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> *Huff v. State*, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993).

#### **Statement of the Facts:**

## The Facts as Determined by This Court on Direct Appeal

This Court made the following findings regarding the facts of the case on direct appeal of the judgments and sentences:

The evidence presented at trial established the following facts. Nelson and Keith Brennan wanted to leave the city of Cape Coral. The two devised a plan to murder Tommy Owens and steal his car. Nelson and Brennan knew that Owens kept a baseball bat in his car. On the evening of March 10, 1995, Owens was lured under false pretenses to a remote street. Nelson and Brennan were able to convince Owens to exit his car, whereupon Nelson hit Owens with the bat. After a number of blows, Owens eventually fell to the ground. Nelson and Brennan tied Owens' legs and arms. Owens pleaded for his life, stating that the two could take his car. After a brief discussion, Nelson and Brennan concluded that to avoid being caught, they should kill Owens. Brennan attempted to slice Owens' throat with a box cutter. Owens was not unconscious when the attacks began and he begged Nelson to hit him again with the bat so as to knock him unconscious before the stabbing continued. Nelson did as Owens requested and Brennan continued to attack Owens with the box cutter. Nelson and Brennan also continued to strike Owens a number of times with the bat. The two eventually dragged Owens' body to nearby bushes, where Owens later died.

Nelson and Brennan picked up Tina Porth and Misty Porth and the four left the city in Owens' car. After stopping in Daytona Beach, the four left the state and drove to New Jersey. At different times during the trip, Nelson and Brennan informed Tina and Misty that they had murdered Owens. Both Tina and Misty testified at trial.

Nelson and Brennan were apprehended by law enforcement officers in New Jersey. Nelson gave a video and audiotaped confession. In the confession, Nelson detailed his account of the murder, both at the crime scene and at the place where the bat was recovered. The videotaped confession was played to the jury. Additionally, an analyst for the Florida Department of Law Enforcement testified that blood stains on Nelson's shoes, the box cutter, and a pair of underwear that the box cutter was wrapped in all matched Owens' DNA.

Nelson was found guilty of first-degree murder and robbery with a deadly weapon. At the penalty phase, the jury recommenced death by a twelve-zero vote. The trial court found three aggravators: (1) the murder was committed in the course of a robbery; (2) the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel (HAC); and (3) the murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of legal or moral justification (CCP). The trial court also found that one statutory mitigator (age of eighteen at the time of the crime) and fifteen nonstatutory mitigators were established. The statutory mitigator was given great weight. The first nonstatutory mitigator was given substantial weight, and the remaining nonstatutory mitigators were given from moderate to little weight. The trial court concluded that Nelson failed to establish the following statutory mitigators: (1) that he acted under the effect of extreme emotional disturbance, (2) that he was an accomplice with minor participation, (3) that he acted under the domination of another person, and (4) that his capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct was impaired. The trial court followed the jury's recommendation and imposed the death penalty for the first-degree murder conviction. The trial court sentenced Nelson to 189 months in prison for the robbery conviction.

Nelson v. State, 748 So. 2d 237, 239-40 (Fla. 1999).

## **Collateral Claims Presented in Post Conviction Proceeding**

Nelson presented four post conviction claims, all involving alleged constitutional ineffective assistance of trial counsel. Those claims were:

- 1. Claim I: Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to assure that Nelson was tried by a fair and impartial jury during the guilt/innocence and penalty phases of the trial. This included counsel not objecting to the inclusion of certain jurors who felt that death should be automatic if Nelson was convicted of first-degree murder. It also included not objecting to the state's challenge to at least one person who opposed the death penalty in general but could otherwise follow the law and serve as a fair juror. (R9/790-97.)
- 2. Claim II: Nelson asserted in a second claim that a substantial amount of non statutory mitigating evidence regarding (a) Nelson's history of substance and drug abuse, (b) his subjection to sexual abuse by a step-father in a dysfunctional family situation, and (c) his bi-polar and ADHD conditions -- was not presented to the jury by his trial counsel during the penalty phase of the trial. (R9/802-08.) In addition, Nelson claimed (d) that his attorney failed to object to improper, prejudicial statements made by the prosecution during closing arguments in the penalty phase of the trial. (R9/808-10.) Furthermore, he contended that (e) his trial counsel failed to preserve his right to a fair trial regarding the issue of a tattoo that came up between the end of the guilt/innocence phase and the penalty phase of the trial that was very prejudicial to the defendant. (R9/810-12.) Finally,

Nelson asserted that (f) the jury that tried him was never duly sworn as required by law. (R9/812.)

- 3. Claim III: The cumulative effects of various ineffective acts and omissions of his trial counsel resulted in his conviction and death sentence. (R9/813.)
- Claim IV: 4 Co-defendant Brennan's resentence to life in 4. prison was newly discovered evidence entitling Nelson to be resentenced to life in prison as well, especially given the inconsistent positions taken by the state regarding Brennan's greater maturity and, therefore, culpability. (R9/814-16.)

### **Evidence Presented During Post Conviction Evidentiary Hearing**

Mr. Nelson was the first witness during the post conviction evidentiary hearing. He was represented at trial by Mr. Harold Stevens. (R10/1044.) Keith Brennan was his co-defendant. (R10/1044.) Nelson had just turned 18 by a few months as of the date of the homicide. (R10/1045.) Brennan was just shy of his 17<sup>th</sup> birthday at that time. (R10/1045.) Nelson was living at home with his mother and stepfather, Gregory Percifield. Both his mother and Percifield were present at the beginning of the trial, but left

Mislabeled as Claim III in the Complete Second Amended Initial Motion for Post Conviction Relief. (R9/814.)

before it concluded. (R10/1045.) Nelson's natural father testified during the penalty phase. (R10/1045.)

Nelson was not drinking alcohol or using drugs on the night of the homicide but had been using drugs for an extended period of time before that. (R10/1046.) Shortly before the homicide, the defendant had been committed to the Southwest Florida Addiction Services facility in Lee County. (R10/1049) He was ordered there due to his drug use and "committing crimes." (R10/1049.) He ran away from the facility twice. (R10/1049.)

Percifield had become involved with Nelson's mother, Peggy

Percifield, while they had been living in Indiana. While married to Nelson's mother, Percifield physically and sexually abused him for about a year and one-half. (R10/1047.) The sexual abuse caused Nelson to become very angry and to "explode" all at once. (R10/1047.) Nelson told his mother and Mr. Stevens about this prior to trial. His mother told him that she would kill Percifield if he did it again, but it was nothing "other than words."

(R10/1048.) Percifield nevertheless began pressuring him (for sex) not long thereafter. (R10/1049.)

Nelson did not testify during the penalty phase although he wanted to. (R10/1048.) He said that an issue about a tattoo that he applied to his arm

before the penalty phase had come up and, according to his counsel, if he testified, the tattoo matter would be used against him. (R10/1048.) There was a substantial period of time between the guilt/innocence and penalty phases of his trial. (R10/1050.) He did not recall the trial judge telling the jurors not to discuss the case during this interim period. (R10/1050-51.) He was housed at the Lee County Jail. (R10/1050) It was there that he applied the tattoo himself. (R10/1051.) The tattoo read "Natural Born Killer." (R10/1051.) Somehow the media found out about it, and stories about the tattoo appeared in the local newspaper and on television. (R10/1051-52.) He believed that a fellow inmate told a guard about the tattoo -- and then it got to the news media. (R10/1059-60.) He recalled that the issue was addressed in court at the beginning of the penalty phase. (R10/1052.) He remembered that several jurors indicated that they had seen the media coverage of the matter yet they remained on the jury. (R10/1053.) Nelson felt great remorse for what he had done and wanted to testify to that effect at the penalty phase, a wish that he conveyed to Mr. Stevens. (R10/1053.) However, Mr. Stevens told him that it would not be beneficial for him to do so. (R10/1054.)

On cross-examination, Nelson said that he testified during the guilt/innocence phase and referenced his treatment for drug and alcohol

abuse, his stay at the Southwest Florida Treatment Center, and the sexual wrongdoing by his stepfather. (R10/1056.) He reiterated that he did not testify at the penalty phase based upon the advice of counsel because the state was going to use the information about the tattoo against him. (R10/1057.) Nelson would not concede that not testifying during the penalty phase because of the tattoo issue was a "strategy" decision. (R10/1057-58.) Nor would he concede that he would not have anything to add had he testified during that phase of the trial. (R10/1058.) He was not sure but he might have expressed some remorse at the end of his guilt/innocence trial testimony. (R10/1060.) He agreed that Mr. Stevens would have had no way of knowing that he was going to apply the tattoo before he (Nelson) did so. (R10/1060.)

Stephen Holland was the next witness for Mr. Nelson. He reported that Dr. Sidney Merin, a psychologist, testified for Nelson during the penalty phase of his state court trial. (R10/1067.) He confirmed that Nelson's mother was present at the beginning of the trial. She has since passed away. R10/1067. Her husband, Mr. Percifield (Nelson's step-father) was present for the first few days of the trial as well. (R10/1067.) Holland tried to find him, to no avail. (R10/1068.) There was about a three-week gap (from September 19, 1996-October 7, 1996) between the end of the guilt/

innocence phase and the beginning of the penalty phase. (R10/1070.) He reviewed the trial record and found that Mr. Stevens did not ask for an instruction -- and the trial court did not instruct the jury -- to refrain from reading or viewing media reports about the case during this interim period. (R10/1070.) It was during this interim period that Nelson applied the tattoo to himself while in the Lee County Jail. (R10/1070-71.)

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