#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOSHUA D. NELSON,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC10-540 Lower Tribunal No. 95-CF-911A

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LEE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL MCCOLLUM
ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR
SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 0503843
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501
carol.dittmar@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Nelson has failed to demonstrate any error in the lower court's denial of his motion for postconviction relief. below conducted an evidentiary hearing and properly concluded that trial counsel Harold Stevens did not provide ineffective assistance; neither deficient performance prejudice were shown. Nelson's claim as to jury selection is insufficient as Nelson has never identified any biased juror that sat on his case. Counsel's failure to secure sequestration for the nearly two months between the guilt and penalty phases was not unreasonable and any prejudice occasioned by Nelson's tattoo was self-created and cannot be attributed to Stevens. Counsel reasonably attempted to present Nelson's mother and stepfather as mitigation witnesses and is not responsible for the fact that they absconded in light of the defense claim of sexual abuse by Percifield. There is no possible prejudice since none of the asserted deficiencies by counsel changed the evidentiary support for any relevant sentencing factors.

The court also properly rejected Nelson's claim that the prosecution violated due process by adopting inconsistent theories with regard to sentencing. The court determined that the State did not take inconsistent positions and that no due process violation occurred.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING NELSON'S CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL FOR FAILING TO SECURE AN IMPARTIAL JURY.

Nelson's first claim asserts that he was effective assistance of counsel due to errors committed by his attorney during jury selection. Specifically, Nelson claims that his attorney, Harold Stevens, could have secured the excusal of three prospective jurors for cause, but because counsel failed to provide the relevant authority, the individuals sat on Nelson's jury, convicted him of murder, and recommended that a death sentence be imposed. Nelson also accuses Stevens of having failed to prevent the dismissal of prospective juror Sankis after Sankis admitted that he could not recommend imposition of the death penalty under circumstances. As will be seen, Nelson's assertion of ineffective assistance of counsel on these bases was properly rejected.

Nelson did not seek an evidentiary hearing on this issue, but relied upon the trial transcript to prove his claim. Since the claim is fully based on the written record and pleadings, review is de novo. Walton v. State, 3 So. 3d 1000, 1005 (Fla. 2009); State v. Coney, 845 So. 2d 120, 137 (Fla. 2003). A

review of the record fully supports the lower court's ruling to deny this claim; the court properly found that Nelson failed to establish a valid basis for a cause challenge on the jurors at issue (11/1115).

According to Nelson, jurors Carlsen, Dolan, and Wotitzky all generally agreed with the statement that the death penalty convicted of should be imposed anyone first-degree on While attorney Stevens moved to exclude premeditated murder. these jurors, Nelson asserts that Stevens failed to provide case law supporting his motion, and consequently the trial court "superficially rehabilitated" the jurors by asking whether the jurors could follow the law (Brief, p. 36). In addition, Nelson notes that Stevens could have excused these prospective jurors peremptorily, but failed to do so, resulting in three jurors sitting for Nelson's trial that allegedly believed that death was the presumptively appropriate sentence for first-degree premeditated murder.

The record reflects that Nelson's jury was carefully selected and that no biased juror was seated. Nelson identifies responses from prospective jurors Dolan, Carlsen and Wotitzky, and claims these comments reflect that these individuals would support the death penalty for any first-degree murder conviction, and therefore they should have been excused and

should not have sat on Nelson's jury. Significantly, these responses were all offered <u>before</u> the jury had been instructed on the legal principles to be applied (DA. 14/162-63, 174-77). When questioned, prospective jurors Dolan, Carlsen and Wotitzky all confirmed that they could follow the law and the court's instructions (DA. 14/175-77), and there is no indication that any juror felt so strongly in favor of a death sentence that he or she would disregard the law or the court's instructions when deliberating an appropriate sentence. As the court below found, the failure to exclude these jurors was not a result of counsel failing to cite the appropriate authority, but because they were not subject to a cause challenge as a matter of law (11/1115).

Nelson's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel must be determined in accordance with the standards set forth in <a href="Strickland v. Washington">Strickland v. Washington</a>, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); in <a href="Strickland">Strickland</a>, the United States Supreme Court established a two-part test for reviewing claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, which requires a defendant to show that (1) counsel's performance was deficient and fell below the standard for reasonably competent counsel and (2) the deficiency affected the outcome of the proceedings. The first prong of this test requires a defendant to establish that counsel's acts or omissions fell outside the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The designation "DA." is provided for record cites pertaining to the record in Nelson's direct appeal.

wide range of professionally competent assistance, in that counsel's errors were "so serious that counsel functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 690. Sixth Amendment." clear, substantial deficiency will meet this test. See Johnson v. State, 921 So. 2d 490, 499 (Fla. 2005). The second prong requires a showing that the "errors were so serious as deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable," and thus there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the proceedings would have been different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 695. deficiency must have affected the proceedings to such an extent that confidence in the outcome is undermined. Johnson, 921 So. 2d at 500.

Proper analysis of this claim requires a court to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight and evaluate the performance from counsel's perspective at the time, and to indulge a strong presumption that counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. <a href="Strickland">Strickland</a>, 466 U.S. at 689. <a href="See generally Chandler v. United States">See generally Chandler v. United States</a>, 218 F.3d 1305, 1313-19 (11th Cir. 2000), <a href="certificity certificity certificity certification">cert. denied</a>, 531 U.S. 1204 (2001); <a href="Johnson">Johnson</a>, 921 So. 2d 499-500; <a href="Assay v. State">Assay v. State</a>, 769 So. 2d 974, 984 (Fla.

2000). Judicial scrutiny of attorney performance must be highly deferential. "It is all too tempting for a defendant to second-guess counsel's assistance after conviction or adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel's defense after it has proved unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or omission of counsel was unreasonable." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689. The defendant bears the heavy burden of proving that counsel's representation was unreasonable under prevailing professional standards and was not a matter of sound trial strategy, and that prejudice resulted. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689; Chandler, 218 F.2d at 1313; Johnson, 921 So. 2d at 500; Asay, 769 So. 2d at 984.

In this case, Nelson was represented by appointed counsel Harold Stevens and John Mills. Stevens was an experienced criminal defender, having been board certified as a criminal trial lawyer since 1994 (10/1083-84, 1085). When reviewing the performance of seasoned trial attorneys, the strong presumption of correctness ascribed to their actions is even stronger. Chandler, 218 F.3d at 1316.

Nelson has failed to establish either deficient performance or any possible prejudice in this case. He has not shown that all reasonable attorneys would have excused these prospective jurors, and he cannot show that any biased juror sat on his case. Even if Nelson's current counsel would handle the jury selection issues differently, the fact that all of the jurors indicated they could be fair and follow the law provides a basis for finding that counsel's decision against striking particular jurors was a matter of reasonable strategy. See Evans v. State, 995 So. 2d 933, 942-943 (Fla. 2008) (rejecting IAC where counsel did not strike juror that clearly supported death penalty). Therefore, this claim was properly denied.

Nelson also claims that counsel performed deficiently in permitting the State to excuse prospective juror John Sankis, who was generally opposed to the death penalty but agreed with attorney Stevens that he could follow the law and could weigh and consider the aggravating and mitigating circumstances as instructed. According to Nelson, Sankis' later dismissal violated Witherspoon v. Witt, 469 U.S. 412 (1985), and had Stevens cited the Witherspoon case, the trial court would not have allowed Sankis to be dismissed from the jury pool.

Once again, no error has been shown. The record supports the trial court's explanation that prospective juror Sankis was dismissed because the parties were able to agree on a jury before Sankis came up for consideration (11/1116-17; DA. 14/179-180, 15/238-40, 247, 276-82, 301-03). Moreover, the dismissal of Sankis, after Sankis indicated that he could never recommend

a death sentence under any circumstances, could not have been avoided had Nelson's attorneys performed any differently; the record reflects that defense counsel attempted a reasonable rehabilitation, but Sankis continued to maintain that he could not vote to recommend a death sentence under any circumstances (DA. 15/298-300). Witherspoon does not permit any jurors to sit that cannot agree to follow the law. While Juror Sankis agreed to "consider" the relevant sentencing factors in recommending a sentence, he repeatedly and continuously acknowledged that he would not return a recommendation for imposition of the death penalty under any circumstances. Because that clearly is not the law in Florida, the record affirmatively demonstrates that Sankis would not be able to follow the law, and therefore his dismissal would have been required by Witherspoon.

Nelson claims prejudice due to Stevens' asserted deficiencies in jury selection based on having been tried by a jury that was "skewed in favor of the imposition of the death penalty" in violation of Nelson's right to a fair and unbiased jury (Brief, p. 40). This is insufficient to allege the necessary prejudice. In <u>Carratelli v. State</u>, 961 So. 2d 312, 324 (Fla. 2007), this Court explained that prejudice only occurs when a deficient performance in jury selection leads to a biased juror actually serving on the defendant's jury. The court below

repeatedly found that the record did not provide any indication that any of Nelson's jurors were biased (11/1115, 1116, 1117). As Nelson has not demonstrated any error in this finding, he has not made the necessary allegation or showing of prejudice under Carratelli.

The court below properly rejected Nelson's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel during the jury selection of his trial, and this Court must affirm the denial of this claim.

#### ISSUE II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING NELSON'S CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL FOR FAILING TO PROTECT NELSON FROM ADVERSE PUBLICITY.

Nelson's next claim asserts that his attorneys were constitutionally ineffective for failing to protect Nelson from adverse publicity with regard to a tattoo that Nelson obtained following his conviction for first-degree murder. The trial court denied this claim, finding that Nelson had not established deficient performance or prejudice (11/1125-27). As this claim was denied following an evidentiary hearing, the trial court's factual findings are reviewed with deference and the legal conclusions are considered de novo. Stephens v. State, 748 So. 2d 1028, 1033 (Fla. 1999).

Nelson claims that counsel failed to protect him by requesting that the jury be sequestered for the substantial break between the guilt and penalty phases or requesting that the court instruct the jury to avoid any media reports about the case over the break. As a result, when Nelson secured his "Natural Born Killer" tattoo in jail, it was reported in the media and several of his jurors became aware of the tattoo. In addition, the defense agreed that Nelson would not testify at the sentencing in exchange for the State avoiding the presentation of any evidence about the tattoo, and therefore,

according to Nelson, the jury never heard about Nelson's remorse over killing Tommy Owens.

The record reflects that the guilt phase jury verdict was returned on September 19, 1996, but the penalty phase did not begin until November 7, 1996 (DA. 7/527; 10/694).<sup>2</sup> This is consistent with a ruling entered prior to trial; the defense had requested funds to retain an additional mental health expert to develop mitigating evidence, but the trial judge was concerned about the amount of money taxpayers were being asked to expend for a penalty phase before Nelson had even been convicted (DA. 6/455-60, 474). The judge compromised by indicating he would provide a break before any penalty phase so that the defense could secure further mitigation after the conviction (DA. 6/459-60, 474). An order appointing Dr. Merin to evaluate Nelson was entered after the conclusion of the guilt phase, on September 27, 1996 (DA. 7/562-63), and Nelson was examined by Merin on October 23, 1996 and October 27, 1996 (DA. 8/613-14; 10/780).

Hal Stevens testified at the evidentiary hearing that the break in proceedings was welcomed by the defense (10/1089-90). They needed to bring witnesses down from Indiana, and they were still looking for Nelson's father, who lived in a tent in the

Nelson's brief describes this as a three-week gap, until October 7, 1996 (Brief, p. 42); however, the trial record reflects that the penalty phase did not commence until November 7, 1996 (DA. 10/694).

woods near Orlando (10/1087, 1089). They were also still investigating mental health issues (10/1089-90). Importantly, however, the defense wanted the jury to have a cooling-off period after hearing the videotaped confession, which was very brutal, and Stevens hoped its impact would diminish over time (10/1090).

Nelson now claims that his defense team should have sought to have the jury sequestered over this break or secured an instruction cautioning the jury to avoid any possible media coverage over the break. Given the length of time between proceedings, sequestration was not a reasonable option. Banda v. State, 536 So. 2d 221, 224 (Fla. 1988) (rejecting claim that jury should have been sequestered over the break between guilt and penalty phases). Stevens acknowledged at the hearing that he did not specifically request an admonishment against exposure to the media; he knew the jury had heard the most graphic, brutal evidence before convicting Nelson and defense team was not expecting anything newsworthy to happen (10/1090-92). Stevens did not know or anticipate that Nelson would give himself a tattoo that read "Natural Born Killer" over the interim, and the defense team only learned of the tattoo by reading about it in the newspaper shortly before the commencement of the penalty phase (10/1091-92). The defense was

particularly concerned about prejudice because there had been a movie about that time called "Natural Born Killer" that was very violent and very popular (10/1094).

The direct appeal record reflects that the defense team took several measures attempting to alleviate any prejudicial effect. They filed a motion in limine to preclude the prosecution from mentioning the tattoo and also moved for mistrial based on publicity generated over the break between the guilt and penalty phases (DA. 8/588-593). A hearing was held on these motions on October 29, 1996 (DA. 8/627-664). Judge Nelson indicated that he would conduct a colloquy to determine if any jurors had been exposed to media accounts and whether anyone had formed any opinions or impressions in the case (DA. 8/640). The Court declined to provide an anticipatory ruling as to whether the State would be permitted to use the tattoo if Nelson testified about any remorse (DA. 8/657-58).

However, by the beginning of the penalty phase, the defense and the State had reached an agreement that the defense would not argue remorse in mitigation if the State did not bring out the tattoo (DA. 10/721-22). Hal Stevens testified at the evidentiary hearing to his opinion that this was a beneficial deal for the defense (10/1094). For one thing, they didn't really have any compelling evidence of remorse; for another,

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